IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARJORIE O. DAVIS, Petitioner,	
vs.	CASE NO.: 69,019
STATE OF FLORIDA,))
Respondent.)))

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

OFFICES OF ROBERT STUART WILLIS 503 East Monroe Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 356-0990

BAC 3

NA

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 24, 1984, the Defendant, Marjorie Oertel Davis, aged thirty, was arrested on an "open" charge of Murder in connection with the shooting death of her husband on that date. She was subsequently indicted for Murder in the First Degree. As related by the Affidavit In Support Of Probable Cause (R., Vol. I, p. 4) the decedent, John Davis, was shot several times while asleep in his bed.

At the time of the shooting, the Defendant's minor son, Christopher, was asleep in his own bedroom, down the hall from the master bedroom where the shooting took place. (R., Vol. II, pp. 297, 319).

Following the shooting, the decedent moved from the bedroom to the kitchen where he died. After having been advised of her "Miranda" warning, Ms. Davis made a voluntary statement admitting her involvement in the death. Circumstances of the homicide and her statement are further described as part of the Presentence Investigation Report (R., Vol. II, pp. 297-301).

On November 9, 1984, the Defendant interposed her notice of intent to rely on the defense of Insanity. She was subsequently seen by Dr. Lois Veronen, a psychologist with extensive background in "battered spouse syndrome". Though Dr. Veronen found that Ms. Davis did

not meet the criteria for that syndrome, she did find that, in her opinion, Ms. Davis was legally insane at the time of the commission of the offense. (R., Vol. I, pp. 169, 176-178). Ms. Davis was also seen by Dr. Robert McDonald, a psychiatrist who practices in Atlanta, Georgia. He too found that Ms. Davis was legally insane at the time of the commission of the offense. (R., Vol. II, p. 210). And, in accord with revelations made by Ms. Davis after her arrest, each of these experts found substantial evidence of prior sexual abuse involving her husband. (R., Vol. II, p. 241, and Vol. I, p. 143).

At the request of the State, Ms. Davis was also seen by Drs. Barnard and Carrera, psychiatrists, and Dr. Russell Bauer, a psychologist. Drs. Barnard and Carrera each concluded that the Defendant was not legally insane. Dr. Bauer agreed with that finding, but, also found that the objective test results were very typical of persons with chronic marital and sexual difficulties. (R., Vol. I, p. 104). He also found these scores to reflect "a significant amount of familial tension, a tendency to perceive males as authorities who are met deferentially, and a personal sense of dissatisfaction and alienation manifested by a relatively strong need to 'get away' and 'think things over'". (R., Vol. I, pp. 105-106).

Significantly, he also found that Ms. Davis had a tendency to understate her problems, to be "the opposite of a malingerer". (App., p. 5).

On March 22, 1985, the State and the Defendant entered into a plea agreement providing generally that the Defendant would enter a plea of guilty to the charge of Second Degree Murder. And, as to a second Information to be filed, enter a plea of guilty to the Use Of A Firearm During The Commission Of A Felony in violation of Section 790.07(2) with a negotiated sentence to be imposed on this count of fifteen (15) years probation consecutive to any period of incarceration imposed as to the charge of Second Degree Murder. (R., Vol. II, p. 268).

A sentencing hearing was held on April 30, 1985. At this hearing, the State called the decedent's brother, Tom Davis, as the only witness in aggravation. Indeed, ostensibly, the State presented no argument seeking a sentence outside the guidelines saying only "we would at this point just defer to the Court for purposes of sentencing". (R., Vol. IV, p. 593). However, upon preparation of the Record On Appeal, the Defendant discovered for the first time a two page pleading styled STATE'S ARGUMENT FOR JUSTIFICATION OF THE COURT TO GO OUTSIDE OF SENTENCING GUIDELINES" which was apparently filed on April 30, 1985. This document bears no signature

or certificate of service inasmuch as it was never served on undersigned counsel. (R., Vol. II, pp. 293-294).

Ms. Davis called six witnesses on her behalf. The particulars of their testimony will be discussed in the context of the specific issues to which they relate. In addition to these witnesses, friends, neighbors, coworkers and other acquaintances submitted literally hundreds of letters attesting to the exemplary background, character, and disposition of the Defendant. Many of these letters are included in the Record On Appeal. (R., Vol. II, pp. 334-389; Vol. III, pp. 390-496). The court also received several letters from members of John Davis' family. (R., Vol. III, pp. 501-513).

The "guideline" sentencing range was twelve (12) to seventeen (17) years. The court imposed a sentence of forty (40) years imprisonment. In support of this twenty-three (23) year departure from the sentencing guidelines, the court filed its COURT'S REASONING FOR GOING OUTSIDE SENTENCING GUIDELINES AND IN ADDITION REMARKS CONTAINED IN THE RECORD AT TIME OF SENTENCING. (R., Vol. II, pp. 325-331). For ease of reference, this document is set forth as follows:

"This defendant was indicted by the Grand Jury on 1st Degree Murder. A very simplified definition of this crime is the premeditated killing of a human being. This crime is not subject to the sentencing guidelines and is punishable by death or life without parole for twenty-five (25) years.

The State has allowed the defendant to enter a guilty plea to 2nd Degree Murder. A very simplified definition of 2nd Degree Murder is the unlawful killing of a human being by an act imminently dangerous to another and evincing a deprayed mind regardless of human life.

This crime is subject to the sentencing guidelines. The range of punishment by statute is probation to life but of a term of years not to exceed 40 years.

In order to establish the proper score of this defendant on the sentencing guidelines score sheet and to develop the full background of the crime, the defendant, and the victim, a P.S.I. was ordered by the Court. The sentencing guidelines show a range of sentence from 12 years to 17 years. The Court has the option of going either under or over the guideline sentence, upon stating clear and convincing reasons for doing so in writing.

For this reason the Court has spent considerable time reviewing the P.S.I. The Court has also read thoroughly all psychiatric and psychological reports and depositions. In addition, the Court had available to it the summary investigation report of Investigator Tim Martin that the Court was required to read in order to rule on a pre-trial motion filed by the defendant. This report contains the statements and confessions of the defendant made to Lt. Derry Dedmon. In addition to the above, the Court has read the written facts submitted by the State at the time of the acceptance of the defendant's guilty plea.

A murder involving spouses is always a difficult crime to understand. Our society today is increasingly seeing violent crimes involving family members. There seems to be a certain acceptance within our society as this being a viable alternative to solving family problems. This is true even though the law has, within my time at the bar, responded to the increased family tensions displayed in society. Family law has been one of the fastest changing areas in the law within recent years. We have gone to no-fault divorce; proper person filing

for injunctions, with mandatory immediate hearings in domestic violence cases and increased crime and penalties in spouse abuse cases. So it cannot be said that the courts have not responded to family violence that has been ocurring in our society.

A main concern now has to be: 'Are we as a society going to accept family violence as a norm?'

Having devoted my entire adult life to the law, either by study, practice or service in the Judiciary, I cannot accept a YES answer. To do so would attack the very cornerstone of our society. It would say loud and clear, 'We are no longer a people under the law in our family relationships!'

With that background this has been an extremely difficult murder to understand. The facts of what happened between this husband and wife can be learned from the defendant only.

She relates in her statement to Lt. Dedmon that she has been considering divorce or something for a period of months. This was brought about by her husband's unhappiness with his job. This caused him to relate to his wife his unhappiness, by her account almost nightly. Then, finances became a problem. This is not unusual in family disintegration, in fact, it is true in most such situations. The financial problem was caused in part by the wife's business of distributing Shaklee Products. She evidently wasn't doing as well in sales of the product and had used the family savings for inventory.

Financial problems had reached a climax in that the husband had found out that the Visa card was overdrawn when he was refused service on it and he had begun to ask questions about the family's savings account which was supposed to be in the neighborhood of \$12,000.00. Ms. Davis knew that this account had been drawn down to a little over \$50.00. The Saturday before the murder, Sunday night or Monday morning, Ms. Davis stated she contemplated killing her husband that day but the opportunity did not arise. On Sunday, September 23, 1984, she

related they went to bed but she did not sleep. At 1:32 A.M. she decided she would get the gun from the sewing bag next to the refrigerator in the kitchen. At that time she could not get up the nerve to get it, went to the bathroom and went back to bed. At 1:42 A.M. she went into the kitchen and got the gun from her sewing bag where she had placed it. She then stood for a few minutes at the doorway of their son's bedroom, looking into the master bedroom from the doorway. Again, she relates that at 1:52 A.M. she began standing at the side of the bed with the gun in her hand and until 2:00 A.M., she stood there trying to think of a way not to But, and I quote, kill him.

'I could not think of any way to quickly pay off the debts and knew John would definitely call Burroughs Federal Credit Union and tell them to transfer funds from our savings account to pay the \$1,600.00 Visa bill, and they would tell him we only have \$58.00 in the account, not the \$12,000.00 he thought we had and that I had been lying to him that we had, but didn't. These eight minutes were the longest, most terrible minutes ever.'

At 2:00 A.M. she fired a shot, her husband jerked up and screamed, 'Oh, my God!', several times. She then fired five additional shots. Even with this, she did not instantly kill her husband but he left the bedroom, wandered into the hallway and died in the kitchen trying to phone for help. At this time Ms. Davis was outside, sitting on the tailgate of a pick-up truck and could easily see her husband in need of assistance, had she desired that he not die.

From the above facts, this Court can reach no conclusion other than this murder was cold-blooded and abused the trust that must be exhibited by spouses to each other.

The Court can't help but wonder about the young boy in the next bedroom, who must have heard this volley of shots sounding out in his home in the middle of the night. Did this wake him up? Did he see his mother running out of

the house with the smoking gun in her hand? Did he come out in the hallway and see his father with blood gushing out of him, attempting to telephone for help? What scars will this child carry with him for the rest of his life any time he thinks of this fateful evening in his home?

The defendant's very able counsel had her examined by a psychiatrist and a psychologist and both have found that under the applicable legal rules, this defendant is not insane. In relating the events that led up to this to the five mental health specialists who examined her, the defendant undertakes to put forward a picture of verbal and sexual abuse. Her own expert witnesses testify that she does not present a consistent picture of a person who is subjected to sexual abuse. The most interesting comment by any of the mental health experts is found in the testimony of Dr. Lois J. Veronen on Page 55, which states as follows:

'Q: Okay. So you're basically saying that Marjorie could, put in the same circumstances, do the same thing again?

A: In the circumstances, yes, Yes.'

Balanced against this is a flood of letters from people who have known Ms. Davis for varying periods of time. The theme of all of them is essentially the same, that she is a fine lady, extremely helpful to others and that they cannot understand the reasoning for her killing her husband. The Court has the same problem. only way to reconcile the facts of this case and the impressions of Ms. Davis of those who knew her is to observe that we seldom know our fellow human beings. Throughout this ordeal, with all who she came in contact, her demeanor while presenting history of herself, her affect was shallow and interpersonal warmth was minimal. She was quite controlled and intellectualized. The only agitation and pressure that was reported by any of the professionals was when she spoke about her relationship with her mother and was associated with much angry affect.

For the above reasons, which to this Court are clear and convincing, the Court does not

feel that a sentencing guideline sentence is appropriate in this case."

From the sentence imposed, the Defendant has since timely filed and prosecuted her appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Defendant in this cause, Marjorie O. Davis, is thirty years old without prior history of violence or criminal activity of any kind. Moreover, very substantial evidence was offered demonstrating the extraordinarily positive nature of the Defendant's character. And, this homicide involving the shooting death of her husband was certainly not of an unusually cruel or heinous nature nor were there other factors justifying a sentence of forty (40) years as opposed to a presumptive guideline range of twelve (12) to seventeen (17) years.

Accordingly, the Defendant on appeal challenges the propriety of that sentence.

The reasons relied upon by the trial court for departure from the guideline sentencing range are not clear and convincing as required by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701. Instead of an enumeration or "delineation" as required by the rules, the trial court offered a discussion or narrative statement of its justification for departure. Such narrative statement has been judicially disapproved at least in part because of the difficulty an appellate court has in determining the reasons for departure.

Here, both undersigned counsel and the District Court have attempted to cull from this generalized statement the individual reasons for the trial court's departure. There apparently are four:

- (a) Abuse of trust of the family relationship. This is nothing more or less than spousal homicide. The unlawful taking of a human life, including that of a spouse, is an inherent component of the charged crime.
- (b) The cold-blooded nature of the offense. This alleged basis for departure illustrates the difficulties presented by narration rather than "delineation" of the basis for departure. The trial court's remarks seem to clearly indicate its finding that the homicide was "premeditated" though the charge was reduced from Murder in the First Degree to Murder in the Second Degree. The District Court agreed that using "premeditation" as a basis for departure would be prohibited. However, the court construed the trial court's remarks to be descriptive of "the cruelty with which this crime was committed". In support of this construction, the District Court relied upon factual circumstances of the crime that are clearly inherent components of the crime. As part of its finding of cruelty, the court also pointed out that the Defendant's young son was present in the home though not actually a witness to the crime. Each of these bases have been specifically disapproved in, respectively, State vs.

<u>Mischler</u>, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1986), and <u>Scurry vs. State</u>, 489 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1986).

- (c) Possible harm to Ms. Davis' son, Christopher. At the time of the shooting, the Defendant's five year old son was asleep in his own bedroom down the hall from the master bedroom where the shooting occurred. Though not a witness to the crime, the District Court approved this rationale because of the "possible long lasting traumatic effect" on the child. The only evidence before the sentencing court was that the child was doing well while living with his paternal grandparents. sentencing court merely "wondered" out loud to what extent the child had witnessed the events of that night and/or suffered any long-term traumatic effect therefrom. the facts before the court belied such concerns and there was no proof, certainly not proof beyond a reasonable doubt that there was any long-term traumatic effect, the trial court asserted and the District Court approved this as a basis for departure.
- (d) The trial court's fourth reason, the

 Defendant's sanity and absence of "abused spouse

 syndrome", was found invalid by the District Court. The

 legal capacity to commit a crime is an essential requisite

 to criminal responsibility for any crime, including this

 one. Thus, the trial court had attempted to use an

inherent component of the crime. Though the District Court recognized the invalidity of this reason, it failed to employ the per se reversible error rule this Court apparently has established in <u>State vs. Mischler</u>, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1986), which appears to <u>mandate</u> reversal when such a reason has been used by the trial court as a basis for departure.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DEPARTING FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINE RANGE BY RELIANCE ON INVALID REASONS AND REASONS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(11)

provides:

"Departures from the guideline range should be avoided unless there are clear and convincing reasons to warrant aggravating or mitigating the sentence. Any sentence outside the guidelines must be accompanied by a written statement delineating the reasons for the departure. Reasons for deviating from the guidelines shall not include factors relating to prior arrests without conviction. Reasons for deviating from the guidelines shall not include factors relating to the instant offenses for which convictions have not been obtained."

Recently, in Hendrix vs. State, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla.

1985), this Court reaffirmed the clear intent of the Rule:

". . . while the rule does not eliminate judicial discretion in sentencing, as respondent [State] argues, it does seek to discourage departures from the guidelines."

This Court also restated the basic premise underlying the adoption of a guideline approach to sentencing:

". . . the guidelines were adopted to establish a 'uniform set of standards to guide the sentencing judge' and 'to eliminate unwarranted variation in the sentencing process by reducing the subjectivity in interpreting specific

offense- and offender-related criteria and in defining the relative importance in the sentencing decision.'" [Citing to In Re Rules of Criminal Procedure (Sentencing Guidelines), 439 So.2d 848 (Fla. 1983)].

In the case at bar, the Defendant was originally indicted for Murder in the First Degree. However, by agreement with the State she offered a plea to the lesser charge of Murder in the Second Degree and, by agreement the presumptive guideline range was twelve (12) to seventeen (17) years imprisonment. (R., Vol. II, p. 326).

Prior to sentencing, the Defendant through her counsel submitted a letter sentencing memorandum summarizing the most prominent factors in mitigation and arguing for a sentence below the guideline range. Though the trial court apparently omitted this memorandum from the Record On Appeal, the District Court's Order of September 9, 1985, has enlarged the Record so as to allow consideration of that memorandum. It is provided herewith as an Appendix, 1-6.

The trial court also received an unusual volume of letters attesting to the truly exemplary character of the Defendant. Many of these letters were made part of the Record here. (R., Vol. II, pp. 334-389; Vol. III, pp. 390-496). These letters, most of them unsolicited, were testaments from friends, neighbors, and co-workers spanning virtually her entire lifetime both before and

during her eight year marriage to the decedent.

Significantly, these letters were entirely consistent in their description of the selfless, caring and giving nature of the Defendant.

The Defendant's sentencing memorandum reviewed pre-trial discovery materials which produced very similar descriptions of the Defendant's character and demeanor. Obviously, she had no criminal record of any kind. The Presentence Investigation Report (R., Vol. II, pp. 295-319) confirmed that the Defendant had been a scholarship student in college, graduating with a degree in accounting.

There were numerous examples illustrating the extraordinary nature of the Defendant's character. She had volunteered her time to the patterning of a youngster with Cerebral Palsy. She regularly attended a class on Alzheimer's Disease so she would be better able to care for a neighbor's relative with that affliction.

Conforming to her fundamental Christian beliefs, she was submissive and obedient to her husband, the decedent, even when publicly humbled by him. (App., p. 3; also see further discussion infra). The memorandum also discussed the revelations of sexual abuse which emerged after her arrest, the Jekyll and Hyde nature of the decedent's personality, and the Defendant's own inability to fully relate the nature and extent of the problems which led to

the shooting. It quoted from the pre-trial deposition of the psychologist retained by the State to examine the Defendant, Dr. Russell Bauer:

"Q In other words, she tends to understate the degree of her own problems?

A That is correct. There are other particular scales of the MMPI, which are somewhat related to that, but also give you an indication of the degree of sophistication, intelligence, the degree to which the person understands the task. And she was clearly well within normal limits on all of those. So, the only thing that I can say about a tendency to be inaccurate was, if anything, she erred in the direction of underreporting personal problems.

Q Whatever the opposite of malingerer is, she's it?

A Yes." (App., pp. 4-5).

The memorandum also reviewed the pre-trial psychological examinations where perhaps predictably, a psychologist and psychiatrist employed by the Defendant opined that she was insane and the State's psychiatrists and psychologist found her to be sane. Significantly, however, the State's psychologist tested her to have borderline personality disorder, embodying features of both neurosis and psychosis. The psychiatrists employed by the State limited their opinion to simply whether she met the legal criteria for insanity without offering any further insight as to possible diagnosis. (App., p. 5).

Testimony at the sentencing hearing confirmed and enlarged upon the memorandum:

Henry Cordes, a neighbor for the past five years and retired New York City police lieutenant (R., Vol. IV, p. 541) described Ms. Davis as a "quiet", "conservative person", "devoted to her husband", (R., Vol. IV, pp. 542-543) "a good wife" and "a doting mother". (R., Vol. IV, pp. 544-545). He said that he could "talk for hours" of her "good works". (R., Vol. IV, p. 543).

Joann Garrick, whose adopted son is a Cerebral Palsy victim, described the Defendant's help to her in regular weekly "patterning" sessions with the child.

Asked to describe the Defendant's nature and character she replied: "To me for the years I have known her, she's a beautiful person. Unbelievable." (R., Vol. IV, pp. 548-549).

She also described her experience with Ms.

Davis' husband, the decedent. Five days before the shooting, the Defendant was in Mrs. Garrick's home patterning her son when the decedent called her by phone:

"A Right. At approximately ten o'clock, might have been a few minutes before or after. It wasn't a great time when he called but I answered the phone and he said 'Let me talk to Marjorie.'

And I said, 'Can she call you back at a break?'

We were already in--we were already missing one volunteer.

He said, 'No, I want to talk to her now.'

I said, 'You can't wait?'

He said, 'No, tell her it's her GD husband.'

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