IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARJORIE O. DAVIS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_/

## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

peers of

CLES

CASE NO.

DEC

---- Debuty Cierk

69,019

1986

COURT

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

•

To obtain resentencing, Marjorie Davis must do more than express disagreement with the trial court's finding. She must demonstrate an abuse of discretion. This she has failed to do.

First, her vociferous defense of insanity cannot be seriously considered. If Davis was insane, she would (and should) have gone to trial. If she lacked faith in her defense, the trial court cannot be faulted for agreeing.

Second, the trial court properly found three "aggravating factors" justifying departure from the guidelines. Since there is no per se rule of reversal, the rejection of the court's fourth ground is irrelevant to this action.

#### ARGUMENT

•

## THE PETITIONER IS NOT ENTITLED TO RESENTENCING

The Petitioner, Marjorie Davis, argues two major points in support of her request for resentencing. First, she seeks to persuade this Court that she was temporarily insane and, therefore, not really guilty of anything. Second, she challenges the trial court's stated reasons for departure from the guidelines. The State shall respond to these claims in order.

## A. Insanity

If Marjorie Davis was indeed insane she had no business entering a plea of guilty. Naturally, there is a strong presumption of sanity which must attach in any situation where a defendant waives a defense and enters a "knowing and intelligent" plea of guilty. The ramifications of taking a plea from one who was not guilty, of course, are serious.

Mrs. Davis bases her claims of temporary insanity on the dubious opinion of Dr. Veronen. This "expert" based her opinion upon interviews with Mrs. Davis and her mother, Mrs. Kammer, and upon those portions of the record supplied by the defense. Naturally, there is a strong presumption that defendants seeking to establish some mental deficiency will conform their conduct while before experts. <u>Strickland v. Francis</u>, 738 F.2d 995 (5th Cir.) <u>cert. denied</u>, 444 U.S. 1084 (1979); <u>United States v</u>.

- 8 -

Makris, 535 F.2d 904 (5th Cir. 1976).

••••

A wiley defendant is helped, of course, when she can procure an expert whose professionalism is limited by some perceptual bias. Dr. Veronen, unfortunately, seemed to bring such with her.

Dr. Veronen did not seem motivated to look into all of the facts of this crime above and beyond the limited details fed by the defense. Indeed, she was totally unaware of the fact that "insane Marjorie" studied periodicals to select the best ammunition as well as other facts indicating a well-planned murder as opposed to a spontaneous, hallucinatory reaction. When confronted with these details, Dr. Veronen tried to rationalize them by stating that Mrs. Davis "lapsed in and out of sanity".

Dr. Veronen's opinion became almost pathetic, however, by the time she opined that Marjorie could be deemed insane because her (Marjorie's) grandmother drank and her father had several hobbies. This stretching of sublime facts to ridiculous lengths can be understood, however, when we consider the results of the recent Rosenhan study, see <u>On Being Sane In Insane Places</u>, Science, Vol. 179 (1973). That study concluded that quite often psychiatrists and psychologists simply interpret facts to support either their own bias or the request of the person who hired them.

Every independant and fully informed expert found Davis same

- 9 -

at the time of the offense and the time of trial (plea). A gratuitous restatement of selected facts should not alter that result. The simple truth is that Davis carefully planned and carried out this murder. She was fortunate to avoid the death penalty.

This brings us to her sentence.

.

## B. Sentence

Mrs. Davis' sentence of forty (40) years was well within the statutory (legal) sentence for second degree murder. It was also a reasonable sentence given the cold and brutal nature of this murder and the emotional scars left on the child involved.

The Petitoner was sentenced on April 30, 1985. The guidelines were amended on April 11, 1985, but those amendments did not take effect until July 1, 1985. Therefore, in reviewing this case, we must rely on the guidelines as they were amended on May 8, 1984.

Given Mrs. Davis' reliance upon selected portions of the guidelines, as well as the nature of this appeal, the State would note the following portions of Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(b):

"§§(1) The primary purpose of sentencing is to punish the offender".

"§§(2) The penalty should be commensurate with the severity of the convicted offense and the circumstances surrounding the offense".

- 10 -

Since justice, though due to the accused, is also due to the accuser, <u>State v. Jones</u>, 204 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1967); <u>Snyder v.</u> <u>Massachusetts</u>, 291 U.S. 97 (1934), and since the ostensible purpose of the guidelines is punishment, it is submitted that the trial court was justified in departing from the guidelines.

•

The trial court relied upon four grounds for departure, one of which was disallowed by the First District. The district court clearly found, however, that as to the three remaining grounds the state had clearly met its burden of showing beyond a reasonable doubt, that the stricken ground did not affect the sentencer's decision to depart. <u>Albritton v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1985).

Davis alleges that the <u>Albritton</u> decision has been replaced by a "per se" reversal rule under <u>State v. Mischler</u>, 488 So.2d 523, 525 (Fla. 1986). The State disagrees.

As this Court stated Mischler, at 525:

"Both parties dispute the proper role of appellate courts in sentencing guidelines cases. In <u>Albritton v.</u> <u>State</u>, 476 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1985), we noted that the guidelines were not intended to usurp judicial discretion and that sentencing is still an individualized process. Therefore, we hold that an appellate court's function in a sentencing guidelines case is <u>merely to review the reasons given to support departure and determine whether the trial court abused its discretion in finding those reasons "clear and convincing". [emphasis added]</u>

- 11 -

In the next section of the opinion, however, the court states that reasons prohibited by the guidelines can never justify departure, and:

. . . .

"If any of the reasons given by the trial court to justify departure fall into any of the three above mentioned categories, and appellate court is obligated to find that departure is improper." id.

Mrs. Davis contends that virtually every reason given for departure that is subsequently rejected will fall within one of the three categories listed in <u>Mischler</u>, ergo, every time some reason is declared invalid, reversal is required.

In <u>Scurry v. State</u>, 472 So.2d 779 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), the district court certified (to this court) the question of whether a reviewing court need examine all stated grounds for departure once one has been declared invalid. In response, this Court declined to answer, noting your prior decision in <u>Albritton</u>, see <u>Scurry v. State</u>, 489 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1986). This continued reference to <u>Albritton</u> rather than <u>Mischler</u> seems to answer our question. Indeed, the <u>Albritton</u> test has remained in use. <u>Grant v. State</u>, 11 F.L.W. 2084 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); <u>Kigar v. State</u>, 11 F.L.W. 2098 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986); see <u>The Florida Bar Re: Rules</u> of Criminal Procedure, 482 So.2d 311 (Fla. 1985).

Turning now to the reasons themselves, the question before us is whether the trial court abused it's discretion in departing from the "guidelines".

- 12 -

## A. Abuse of Trust (familial)

(a) Some first make in a state of a second s Second sec

Mrs. Davis contends that this factor is limited to situations where an adult abuses his position of authority to commit a crime against a child. Mrs. Davis also contends that no fiduciary relationship exists between spouses.

It is submitted that the trust which must exist in a marital relationship is worthy of guidelines recognition. This trust is already recognized, both by statute and case law, in the evidence code provisions which respect the confidentially of marital communications. It is perfectly logical to assume that those same, familial, trust-based, relations could extend to our case.

Married couples argue often, over money. Does this mean that the law requires spouses to "sleep with one eye open"? Of course not. Mr. Davis was entitled to enjoy the trust and security of his own home and bed with the same peace of mind as "Daniel in the lion's den". He did not, nor should he be expected to, anticipate a 2:00, A.M. sneak attack by the woman laying at his side.

## B. Murder Cold-Blooded

Unlike <u>Scurry</u>, this is not a case where a jury rejected factual averments above and beyond "second degree murder". In the case at bar, the parties entered a plea bargain that included, as a stipulation of fact, the elements of Marjorie's

- 13 -

preparation, planning, research and later efforts to avoid detection as well as her cold, callous conduct in waiting for John to die.

•

There is a difference between a plea bargain and a jury verdict, especially when the plea bargain leaves open the possibility of sentence enhancement. Since no conviction was "obtained", (but rather, was "bargained") there exists no operative finding or rejection of any "fact" other than the one made by the sentencer. As such, there is no violation of Section §3.701(d)(11), Fla.R.Crim.P. (proscription against factors relating to the offense for which convictions were not obtained).

We are not, as Appellant suggests, simply dealing with a "routine" shooting (brief p. 35) wherein the husband was shot, "lingered awhile" (Davis' words) and died. We are talking about the brutal slaying of a human being for the most obsurd of reasons. We are not talking about "lingering awhile". Rather, we are talking about a victim who staggered, bleeding, all over his home - trying so desperately to cling to life that he died trying to call for help. We are talking about a man who not only died horribly, but who did so knowing that his little boy was watching.

Where was Marjorie during all this? Waiting outside.

These factors go far beyond "rescoring an element of the

- 14 -

crime", see <u>State v. Mischler</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Steiner v. State</u>, 469 So.2d 179 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). These factors lend a cruel uniqueness to this offense which lets it stand apart from the "usual" second degree murder.

•

Were this still a capital case, the "cold, calculated and premeditated" nature of the murder would justify enhancement from life to a death sentence, see <u>Mills v. State</u>, 462 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1985). Similarly, the victim's "helpless anticipation of death" could justify enhancement, see <u>Lemon v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1984); Clark v State, 443 So.2d 973 (Fla. 1983).

Can it be said that these factors would let us kill Marjorie Davis but they would not let us simply enlarge her prison sentence?

While Section §3.701(d)(ll), Fla.R.Crim.P. is designed to preclude sentencing for a crime other than the one for which Davis was convicted, nothing in that rule precludes a judge from looking at the circumstances of the crime itself. <u>Murphy v.</u> <u>State</u>, 459 So.2d 337 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); <u>Garcia and Wilson v.</u> State, 454 So.2d 714 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

## C. <u>Possible Harm To Mr. and</u> Mrs. Davis' Son, Christopher

Mrs. Davis contends that since the "full" impact of witnessing this murder cannot yet be assessed, any trauma to young Chris is to be ignored.

- 15 -

After receiving psychiatric attention, passed into the care of relatives, to whom he has begun to "open-up". The trial judge was advised by grandparents and his Uncle that saw his father die.

Just because this young child is not demonstrating "adult" responses does not mean he was totally unaffected by what he saw, nor does it mean that a murderer like Mrs. Davis should profit.

It may take time for the full impact to hit young **(1998)** but there can be no denying that he will be affected as he carries his father's death in his mind's eye the rest of his life. The long term psychological effects of this crime on **(1996)**, as a surviving victim, can be considered. <u>Hankey v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); <u>Casteel v. State</u>, 11 F.L.W. 128 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

### D. Defendant's Sanity

This factor was rejected by the First District and need not be rehashed.

While Davis labors mightily to raise the illusion of her own insanity and challenge the Court's findings of fact, she does not show any "abuse of discretion", see <u>Booker v. State</u>, 482 So.2d 414 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); <u>Canakeris v. Canakeris</u>, 382 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1980).

- 16 -

Delno v. Market Street Railway Co., 124 F.2d 965, 967 (9th

Cir. 1942), defined "abuse" as follows:

•

"Discretion, in this sense, is abused when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court. If reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the trial court, then it cannot be said that the trial court abused it's discretion".

Given the gravity of this offense, the facts stipulated to pursuant to the plea and the facial frivolity of the "insanity" contention, the court's imposition of a reasonable statutory sentence of forty (40) years was proper, understandable, and anything but an abuse of discretion. • • • •

### CONCLUSION

The decision of the District Court should be affirmed.